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AMENDMENT NO. 1

EXPLANATORY NOTE

Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us”) is filing this amendment (the “Form 10-K/A”) to our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 25, 2020 (the “Original Form 10-
K”), solely for the purpose of complying with Regulation S-X, Rule 3-09 ("Rule 3-09"). Rule 3-09 requires that Form 10-K contain separate financial statements for
unconsolidated subsidiaries and investees accounted for by the equity method when such entities are individually significant. We have determined that our equity method
investment in Buckeye Wind Energy Class B Holdings, LLC and Subsidiaries, which is not consolidated in our financial statements was significant under the income test of
Rule 3-09 in relationship to our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2018, and our equity method investment in Helix Fund I, LLC, which is also not
consolidated in our financial statements, was significant under the income test of Rule 3-09 in relationship to our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Since the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 of the aforementioned investees were not available until after the date of the filing of our
Original Form 10-K, Rule 3-09 provides that the financial statements may be filed as an amendment to our Original Form 10-K within 90 days after the end of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2019. Therefore, this Form 10-K/A amends Item 15 of our Original Form 10-K filed on February 25, 2020 to include the following Exhibits: 

• Exhibit 23.2 -- Consent of CohnReznick LLP for Helix Fund I,
LLC,

• Exhibit 23.3 -- Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP for Buckeye Wind Energy Class B Holdings
LLC,

• Exhibit 99.1 -- Helix Fund I LLC, Financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2019,

• Exhibit 99.2 -- Helix Fund I LLC, Financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31,
2018,

• Exhibit 99.3 -- Helix Fund I LLC, Financial Statements as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 and for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the period from
December 2, 2016 (inception) through January 1, 2017, and

• Exhibit 99.4 -- Buckeye Wind Energy Class B Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries, Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019

This Form 10-K/A does not amend or otherwise update any other information in the Original Form 10-K (including the exhibits to the Original Form 10-K, except for
Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1 and 32.2). Accordingly, this Form 10-K/A should be read in conjunction with our Original Form 10-K. In addition, in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC, this Form 10-K/A includes updated certifications from our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as
Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1 and 32.2.

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules

Documents filed as part of the report

The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K/A in Part II, Item 8 and are incorporated by reference:

(a)(1) Financial Statements:

See index in Item 8—“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” filed with the Original Form 10-K for a list of financial statements.
 
(3) Exhibits

Files:

Exhibit
number Exhibit description

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

3.2 Bylaws of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

3.3 Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex32.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex33.htm


4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant’s Form S-11 (No. 333-186711), filed on April 12, 2013)

4.2 Description of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc.’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877), filed on February 25, 2020)

4.3 Indenture, dated as of August 22, 2017, between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (No. 001-35877), filed on August 22, 2017)

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 22, 2017, between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee (including the form of 4.125% Convertible Senior Note due 2022) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s
Form 8-K (No. 001-35877), filed on August 22, 2017)

4.5 Indenture, dated as of July 2, 2019 between HAT Holdings I LLC and HAT Holdings II LLC, as issuers, and Hannon Armstrong Sustainable
Infrastructure capital, Inc., Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure, LP., and Hannon Armstrong Capital, LLC, as guarantors, and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (including the form of HAT Holdings I LLC and HAT Holdings II LLC’s 5.25% Senior Notes due 2024) (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (No. 001-35877), filed on July 2, 2019)

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registrant’s Form S-11 (No. 333-186711),
filed on April 12, 2013)

10.2 Amended and Restated 2013 Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 4, 2017)

10.3 Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated April  23, 2013 between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Jeffrey W. Eckel
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June  30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Executive Officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

10.5 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Non-employee Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

10.6 Amended and Restated Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March, 31 2017 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 4, 2017)

10.7 Registration Rights Agreement, dated April  23, 2013, by and among Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and the parties listed on
Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed
on August 9, 2013)

10.8 Employment Agreement, dated April  17, 2013, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Jeffrey Eckel
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June  30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

10.9 Employment Agreement, dated April  17, 2013, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and J. Brendan Herron, Jr.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

10.10 Employment Agreement, dated April  17, 2013, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Steven L. Chuslo
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9, 2013)

10.11 Employment Agreement, dated April  17, 2013, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Nathaniel J. Rose
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 9,
2013)

10.12 Employment Agreement, dated April  17, 2013, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Daniel McMahon
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 (No. 001-35877), filed on August 7, 2015)

10.13 Indenture, dated as of September  30, 2015, among HASI SYB Trust 2015-1, the Bank of New York Mellon and Hannon Armstrong Capital, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 (No. 001-35877), filed on
November 5, 2015)
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513151852/d433652dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189420000016/hasiexhibit42descripti.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312517264574/d445127dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312517264574/d445127dex42.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000080/ex41indenture.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513151852/d433652dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312517158968/d355560dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312517158968/d355560dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312517158968/d355560dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex108.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312513328216/d564193dex1010.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312515283292/d943224dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312515366645/d68656dex104.htm


10.14 Bond Purchase Agreement (Class A), dated as of September 30, 2015, among HASI SYB Trust 2015-1, HA Land Lease Holdings, LLC and the
purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 (No. 001-
35877), filed on November 5, 2015)

10.15 Contribution and Sale Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2015, among HASI SYB Trust 2015-1, and HA Land Lease Holdings, LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 (No. 001-35877), filed on November 5, 2015)

10.16 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2015, by Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. in favor of the Bank of New York
Mellon (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 (No. 001-35877), filed on
November 5, 2015)

10.17 Employment Agreement, dated March 15, 2017, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Charles Melko
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 4, 2017)

10.18 Form of Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's Form 10-K (No. 001-
35877) for the year ended December, 31, 2017, filed on February 23, 2018)

10.19 Loan Agreement (Rep-Based), dated as of December 13, 2018 by and among certain subsidiaries of the Company, Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent, and each lender from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No.
001-35877) for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed on February 22, 2019)

10.20 Loan Agreement (Approval-Based), data as of December 13, 2018, by and among certain subsidiaries of the Company, Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent, and each lender from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No.
001-35877) for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed on February 22, 2019)

10.21 Limited Guaranty (Rep-Based), dated as of December 13, 2018, by the Company and Hannon Armstrong Capital, LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877) for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed on February 22, 2019)

10.22 Guaranty (Approval-Based), dated as of December 13, 2018, by the Company and Hannon Armstrong Capital, LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877) for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed on February 22, 2019)

10.23 Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2019, by and between Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. and Jeffrey A. Lipson
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 3, 2019)

10.24 Form of LTIP Unit Vesting Agreement under the 2013 Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 3, 2019)

10.25 Form of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure, L.P. Time-Based LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 3, 2019)

10.26 Form of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure, L.P. Performance-Based LTIP Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 (No. 001-35877), filed on May 3, 2019)

21.1 List of subsidiaries of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-
K (No. 001-35877), filed on February 25, 2020)

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP for Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 23.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877), filed on February 25, 2020)

23.2* Consent of CohnReznick LLP for Helix Fund I, LLC
23.3* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP for Buckeye Wind Energy Class B Holdings LLC
24.1 Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 24.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877), filed on February 25, 2020)

  31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002
  31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
  32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of

2002
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312515366645/d68656dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312515366645/d68656dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312515366645/d68656dex107.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312517158968/d355560dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000119312518055972/d506888dex1057.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000006/ex-1026repbasedcreditagree.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000006/ex-1027approvalbasedcredit.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000006/ex-1028repbasedlmtdguarant.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000006/ex-1029approvalbasedguaran.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000068/hasi-033119xex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000068/hasi-033119xex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000068/hasi-033119xex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189419000068/hasi-033119xex104.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189420000016/hasi12312019ex-211.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189420000016/hasi12312019ex-231.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1561894/000156189420000016/hasi1231201910-k.htm#sDB614C2B6ECD5B5798FA616C2028381A


32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of
2002

99.1* Helix Fund I LLC, Financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019
99.2* Helix Fund I LLC, Financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018
99.3* Helix Fund I LLC, Financial Statements as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 and for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the period from

December 2, 2016 (inception) through January 1, 2017
99.4* Buckeye Wind Energy Class B Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries, Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for each of

the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 101.SCH to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877), filed on

February 25, 2020)
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 101.CAL to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-

35877), filed on February 25, 2020)
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 101.DEF to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877),

filed on February 25, 2020)
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 101.LAB to the Registrant’s Form 10-K (No. 001-35877), filed

on February 25, 2020)
101 PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File Included as Exhibit 101 (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished with this report.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 HANNON ARMSTRONG SUSTAINABLE
 INFRASTRUCTURE CAPITAL, INC.
 (Registrant)
  

Date: March 27, 2020 /s/ Jeffrey W. Eckel
 Jeffrey W. Eckel
 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
  

 /s/ Charles W. Melko
 Charles W. Melko
 Chief Accounting Officer and Senior Vice President
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Exhibit 23.2 Consent of Independent Auditor We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-198158 on Form S-3, No. 333-230546 on Form S-3ASR, and No. 333-230548 on Form S-8 of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. of our report dated March 21, 2018, on our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Helix Fund I, LLC as of December 31, 2017, and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, which report is included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019. Atlanta, Georgia March 26, 2020 1



 





CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements: (1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-198158) of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-230548) pertaining to Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan, and (3) Registration Statement (Form S-3 ASR No. 333-230546) of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. of our report dated March 5, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Buckeye Wind Energy Class B Holdings LLC and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019. Chicago, Illinois March 26, 2020



 



 

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jeffrey W. Eckel, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (the
“registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 27, 2020

 By: /s/ Jeffrey W. Eckel
  Name: Jeffrey W. Eckel
  Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

Exh. 31.1-1



 

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jeffrey A. Lipson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (the
“registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the Audit Committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 27, 2020

 By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Lipson
  Name: Jeffrey A. Lipson
  Title: Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President
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EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 10 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
December 31, 2019 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the “report”), I, Jeffrey W. Eckel, Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

1. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2. The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Date: March 27, 2020

 By: /s/ Jeffrey W. Eckel
  Name: Jeffrey W. Eckel
  Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
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EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 10 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Hannon Armstrong Sustainable Infrastructure Capital, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
December 31, 2019 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about the date hereof (the “report”), I, Jeffrey A. Lipson, Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

1. The report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

2. The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

It is not intended that this statement be deemed to be filed for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Date: March 27, 2020
 

 By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Lipson
 Name: Jeffrey A. Lipson
 Title: Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President
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Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Balance Sheet December 31, 2019 (unaudited)        Assets Current assets Cash$                       70,043 Accounts receivable                         55,146 Unbilled receivable                       165,507 Prepaid expenses                       160,174 Total current assets                       450,870 Property and equipment, net                  29,021,155 Total assets$                29,472,025            Liabilities and Members' Equity Current liabilities Accrued expenses$                       97,700 Deferred revenue 142,519 Total current liabilities                       240,219 Equity      Members' equity                  29,231,806 Total liabilities and members' equity$                29,472,025 See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 2



 



HELIX FUND I, LLC Consolidated Statement of Operations Year ended December 31, 2019 (unaudited) 2019 Revenue from power purchase agreements$             1,768,522 Revenue from production incentives                      3,708 Revenue from the sale of renewable energy certificates                  910,696 Other revenue                         382 Total  revenue               2,683,308 Operating expenses   Depreciation               1,303,262   Professional Fees                    85,004   Operations and maintenance fees                  252,939   Insurance                    96,682   Management fees                    40,156   Miscellaneous expenses                         993   Property and other taxes                    20,994 Total operating expenses               1,800,030 Operating income                  883,278 Net income$                883,278 See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 3



 



HELIX FUND I, LLC Consolidated Statement of Members' Equity Year ended December 31, 2019 (unaudited) 2019 Members' equity  Balance, December 31, 2018         28,704,502   Net income              883,278   Contributions from members           1,963,000   Distributions to members          (2,318,974)  Balance, December 31, 2019$       29,231,806 See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 4



 



HELIX FUND I, LLC Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year ended December 31, 2019 (unaudited) 2019 Cash flows from operating activities: Net income $                    883,278 Reconciliation of  net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  Depreciation                    1,303,262 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable                          (8,225) Unbilled receivable                         49,329 Prepaid expenses                        (79,752) Accounts payable and accrued expenses                        (12,781) Deferred revenue                       142,519 Net cash provided by operating activities                    2,277,630 Cash flows used in investing activities: Purchases of property and equipment                   (1,963,000) Net cash used in investing activities                   (1,963,000) Cash flows from financing activities: Contributions from members                    1,963,000 Distributions to members                   (2,832,441) Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities                      (869,441) Net change in cash                      (554,811) Cash at beginning of period                       624,854 Cash at end of period $                      70,043 See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 5



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Note 1 - Organization and nature of operations Helix Fund I, LLC ("Helix Fund") was formed on December 2, 2016 as a Delaware limited liability company. On December 5, 2016, the Class A Member and HA Helix LLC ("Class B Member") entered into a Limited Liability Company Agreement (the "LLC Agreement") to own one hundred percent (100%) of the Class A Interests and one hundred percent (100%) of the Class B Interests, respectively. On December 5, 2016, the Company, together with Class A Member, Class B Member, SunPower Helix I, LLC ("Seller"), SunPower Capital Services, LLC, and SunPower Corporation, Systems ("Contractor"), entered into a Purchase and Contribution Agreement ("PCA"), to acquire from Seller one hundred percent (100%) of the equity interests of certain limited liability companies (each, a "ProjectCo" and collectively with the Helix Fund, the "Company") that own and operate one or more photovoltaic solar energy generating systems (each, a "System" and collectively, "Systems"). The purchase of the ProjectCos was funded through contributions from the Members. On March 10, 2017, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members' contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project I, LLC, Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC, Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC and Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with their respective ProjectCos. On December 20, 2017, the LLC Agreement was amended and restated to admit SunPower Capital Services, LLC ("Class C Member"). The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. On April 26, 2018, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members' contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project III, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with Helix Project III, LLC (a "ProjectCo"). On February 15, 2019, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members' contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project IV, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with Helix Project IV,

LLC (a "ProjectCo"). As of December 31, 2019, Helix Fund has purchased eight ProjectCos and 20 Systems (see Note 3). Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of accounting The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Helix Fund I, LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Northstar Macys US West 2016, LLC; Northstar Macys Colorado, LLC; Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC; Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC; Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC; Helix Project I, LLC; Helix Project III, LLC, and Helix Project IV, LLC. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 6



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Use of estimates The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include, among others, the estimates for future cash flow, fair value, and estimated useful life and salvage value of the systems. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. Accounts receivable Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company assesses whether an allowance for doubtful accounts is needed for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers the aging profile of outstanding receivables, and existing industry and other economic data. There is no allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2019. Property and equipment Property and equipment are carried at the acquisition price paid by the Company, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is accounted for using the straight-line method over the lesser of the Purchase Power Agreement ("PPA") term or the System's useful life, whichever is shorter. The depreciable lives ranged from 16 to 20 years starting on the respective System's commercial operating date. The salvage value is the expected fair value of the System at the end of the depreciation period. The salvage value shall be estimated at twenty percent (20%) of the purchase price, which is the fair market value at acquisition. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses related to retirements or disposition of property and equipment are recognized in the period incurred. Impairment of long-lived assets The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, such as property and equipment with finite lives, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Factors considered important that could result in an impairment review include significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of acquired assets, and significant negative industry or economic trends.

The impairment evaluation includes a review of the initial model used for acquisition that includes estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets over the useful lives to ensure the future undiscounted net cash flows is sufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets over the remaining estimated useful lives. An impairment loss in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value would be recorded if the cash flows are not greater than the carrying value. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company did not record any impairment charges because no impairment trigger events occurred. Income taxes The Company has elected to be taxed as a partnership. Accordingly, the taxable income or loss of the Company is reported in the tax returns of the Members and no provision for federal or state income taxes is reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Tax years since 2016 for federal and state income tax returns are open to examination from the Internal Revenue Service. 7



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Asset retirement obligations and asset removal agreement The Company's asset retirement obligations (ARO) relate to the Company's contractual obligations to retire the solar facilities under the terms of site lease agreements with the offtaker, or affiliates of the offtakers, of its PPAs. The land and roof leases require that, in addition to retirement of the solar facilities upon lease termination, the leased land or roof be restored to an agreed-upon condition. On December 5, 2016, the Company entered into a System Removal Agreement with the Contractor, an affiliate of the Class C Member, requiring the Contractor to remove and administer the sale of the Systems at the Contractor's expense (asset removal rights). This System Removal Agreement was entered in conjunction with an O&M agreement with the Contractor. The Company recorded the present value of the estimated obligations as they were incurred. Upon initial recognition of the Company's ARO, the carrying amount of the solar facilities was also increased. The asset retirement obligations are accreted to their future value at the expected time of retirement and the capitalized amount to solar facilities is depreciated over the estimated useful life. The Company periodically reviews the estimated ARO related to its contractual obligations to retire the solar facilities from the leased sites upon which the solar facilities were built. No adjustments to the ARO were made during the year ended December 31, 2019. The asset removal rights from the Contractor is computed in the same manner as the ARO and effectively offsets the impacts of the ARO on the related asset removal cost included in the carrying amount of the solar facilities, the related depreciation expense of that asset removal cost, and the ARO accretion expense. The Company has elected to present the ARO net of the equally offsetting asset removal rights from the Contractor in the balance sheet. The following table reflects the changes in the asset retirement obligation: December 31, 2019 Asset retirement obligation, beginning:$ 664,386 Liabilities incurred 25,726 Accretion expense 122,634 Asset retirement obligation, ending:$ 812,746 Revenue recognition Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted

Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09— Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), as amended ("ASC 606"). In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, 606: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, we recognize revenue according to the following steps: (1) identification of the contract with a customer, (2) identification of the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determination of the transaction price, (4) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and (5) recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation. Our revenue is composed of customer agreements (PPAs) and incentives revenues, which include Renewable Energy Credits ("RECs") and California Solar Initiative (“CSI”) program revenues. 8



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Following the adoption of ASC 606, the revenue recognition for our principal sales arrangements, including PPAs, RECs and CSI programs, remained materially consistent, as noted below. The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of electricity under PPAs with various entities upon the delivery of power at pre-determined rates specified in each contract. The Company determined the PPAs do not meet the definition of a lease or derivative and are accounted for as executory contracts. As such, revenue on executory contracts is recognized when the underlying physical transaction is completed, assuming the other revenue recognition criteria discussed above are met. See Note 5 for further analysis of the PPAs. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of REC contracts. The Company has elected an accounting policy to treat REC revenue as a form of output from the Systems. The Company has also elected to treat pre-determined pricing in its contracts as fixed prices. The Company has determined its long-term REC contracts do not meet the criteria to be defined as a lease or classified as a derivative. The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of RECs upon delivery of RECs to the buyer, assuming the other revenue recognition criteria discussed above are met. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company received a lump sum buyout in the amount of $205,228 for the remaining 36 months, beginning February 1, 2019, of the 5-year CSI program term. The buyout was calculated based on historical power production for the first 24 months of the program. The buyout has been deferred and is being recognized ratably over the remaining 36-month term. During the year ended December 31, 2019, $62,709 of CSI buyout revenue was recognized and included in revenue from the sale of renewable energy certificates on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2019, $142,519 of the CSI buyout was deferred and included in deferred revenue on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Sales tax The Company has elected not to report sales taxes in revenues. The sales taxes are reported as accrued expenses. Leases Rents payable

under operating leases are charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. The excess of straight-line rent expense over scheduled rent payments is recorded as deferred rent. For the year ended December 31, 2019 no deferred rent was recorded. Fair value of assets and liabilities The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, unbilled receivable, prepaid expenses, and accrued liabilities approximate their respective fair values as of December 31, 2019. Recent accounting pronouncements In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC606), to replace the existing revenue recognition criteria for contracts with customers and to establish the disclosure requirements for revenue from contracts with customers. Subsequent to the initial ASU, 9



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) the FASB issued various related corrective and clarifying ASUs for the new revenue recognition standard, all of which have been codified in ASC 606. The update, as amended, requires the recognition of revenue related to the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services, as well as additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures about revenues. ASC 606 is effective for private companies for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASC 606 on January 1, 2019, electing the modified retrospective transition method provided under the new standard. Under the modified retrospective transition method, only contracts with customers open as of the adoption date are evaluated, with any cumulative effect recognized as an adjustment to opening accumulated earnings. The Company has not experienced significant changes to the pattern of revenue recognition for its contracts, the identification of contracts and performance obligations or the measurement of variable consideration as under the Company’s former accounting policy. Accordingly, the adoption of ASC 606 did not have an impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an update to the standards to clarify the definition of a business to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The new guidance is effective for the Company no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and requires a prospective approach to adoption. The Company adopted the update on January 1, 2019. In February 2016, the FASB issued an update to the standards to require lessees to recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use asset for all leases (lease terms of more than 12 months) at the commencement date. The new guidance is effective for the Company no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and requires a modified retrospective approach to adoption. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this standard

on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. Note 3 - Asset acquisition On February 15, 2019 and April 25, 2019, Helix Fund acquired 100% of the membership interest of the below ProjectCo from the Seller. The transaction included the acquisition of certain project contract rights, including PPAs and site leases. Pursuant to the PCA, Helix Fund paid an aggregate purchase price of $1,963,000 which was capitalized as part of property and equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Helix Project IV, LLC$ 1,963,000 Total asset acquisition$ 1,963,000 10



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Note 4 - Property and equipment, net Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019: Property and equipment, cost$ 32,510,851 Accumulated depreciation (3,489,696) Property and equipment, net$ 29,021,155 Note 5 - Purchase power agreements The ProjectCos have entered into PPAs with various third-party off-takers. The terms of the PPAs range from 16 to 20 years starting on the respective System's commercial operation date. Throughout the term of the PPAs, the off-taker agrees to purchase all of the energy delivered by the Systems at rates specified in the PPA. The PPAs with two of the off-takers permit the off-taker to purchase the System at fair market value on the specified anniversaries of the Commercial Operation Date as defined in the PPA terms. Upon expiration of the initial term, the PPAs permit the off-taker to extend the PPA at the fair market price for electricity generated by solar PV systems, purchase the System at fair market value, or require the ProjectCo to remove the System. Note 6 - Related party transactions Purchase and contribution agreement On February 15, 2019,the Company amended and restated the PCA for the Members' contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project IV, LLC with SunPower Helix I, LLC, an affiliate of the Class C Member. See Note 1. Management services On December 5, 2016, Helix Fund entered into a Management Agreement with the Class C Member to provide asset management services to the Company. The Management Agreement was amended on April 26, 2018. The agreement will automatically renew for one-year terms unless written notice is provided. The services provided for each System and ProjectCo shall terminate upon expiration of the respective PPA or the date in which the ProjectCo is ceases to be a subsidiary of Helix Fund. During the year ended 2019, Helix Fund incurred $40,156 of management fees. Operations and maintenance services On December 5, 2016, Helix Fund entered into an Operations and Maintenance ("O&M") Agreement with the Contractor, an affiliate of the Class C Member, to provide operation and maintenance services to the ProjectCos. The

Company pays an annual fee up to $20,000 per system, which is payable in quarterly installments. The fee shall increase by two and a half percent (2.5%) annually. The term for each System commences on the Substantial Completion Date, as defined in the applicable Engineering, Procurement and Construction Agreement, and last for ten years. During the 11



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) year ended 2019, Helix Fund incurred $252,939 of operations and maintenance fees. As of December 31, 2019, $1,233 of operations and maintenance fees were payable. Note 7 - Members' equity Members' contributions As of December 31, 2019, contributions made by the Members are as follows: December 5, 2016$ 10,057,747 December 23, 2016 1,069,611 March 10, 2017 14,602,885 March 30, 2017 2,394,598 April 26, 2018 495,602 October 5, 2018 1,927,408 February 15, 2019 392,600 April 25, 2019 1,570,400 Total capital contributions$ 32,510,851 No further contributions are required from the Members unless all of the Members consent thereto in writing. In no circumstances shall the Class C Member be required or permitted to make any contributions. Profit and losses allocation Profit and losses are allocated using the provisions of the LLC Agreement. Accordingly, all items of Company income, gain, loss and deduction (or items thereof) shall be allocated among the Capital Accounts of the Class A and B Members as follows: (i) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the Effective Date and ending on December 31, 2024 ("Allocation Period 1") shall be allocated 99% to the Class A Member and 1% to the Class B Member; (ii) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the day immediately following the last day of Allocation Period 1 and ending on December 31, 2025 ("Allocation Period 2") shall be allocated 84.5% to the Class A Member and 15.5% to the Class B Member; provided that if the Placed In Service Date for a Project occurs during 2017, then the Members may agree to adjust profit and loss allocation percentages during Allocation Period 2, and (iii) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the day immediately following the last day of Allocation Period 2 ("Allocation Period 3") shall be allocated 5% to the Class A Member and 95% with respect to the Class B Member. Items of Company deduction or loss shall be adjusted upon certain tax events. 12



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Beginning in 2023, the Class A Member shall be allocated sufficient income (but in no event, shall such allocation exceed 99% of the Company income) to reduce any deficit in such Class A Member's capital account. The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. As a result, there was no profit and loss allocation to the Class C Member. Distributions Pursuant to the terms of the LLC Agreement, distributions of net cash flow from operations for each prior calendar quarter shall be made to the Members as follows: (i) Net Cash Flow attributable to the period commencing on the Effective Date and through the end of the PPA term of the ProjectCo shall be distributed to the Members as follows: (A) 98% to the Class B Member and (B) 2% to the Class A Member. (ii) Net Cash Flow attributable to the period commencing on the day after the PPA term of the ProjectCo shall be distributed to the Members as follows: (A) 55% to the Class B Members and (B) 45% to the Class A Members. As of December 31, 2019, distributions to the Class A Member and Class B Member totaled $113,492 and $5,359,038, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, all distributions had been paid. The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. As a result, there were no distributions to the Class C Member. Members' equity allocation At December 31, 2019, consolidated members' equity of $29,231,806 was allocated $14,785,483 to the Class A Member, $14,446,323 to the Class B Member, and $0 to the Class C Member. Note 8 - Concentration of credit risk The Company maintains cash with financial institutions. At times, these balances may exceed the federal insurance limits; however, the Company has not experienced any losses with respect to its bank balances in excess of government provided insurance. Management believes that no significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to these balances for the year ended December 31, 2019. Note 9 - Concentration risks Approximately 47 percent of the Company's total revenue is derived from PPAs for

Macy's Corporate Services, Inc., for the year ended December 31, 2019. 13



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2019 (Unaudited) Note 10 - Commitments and contingencies Site agreements The ProjectCos have entered into site agreements with the offtaker or affiliate of the offtaker of the property upon which the Systems are located. The site leases commence on the Effective Date of the site agreements and extend for 20 years or until the PPA expires. The base rent due to the landlord is de minimis. Environmental contingencies The Company reviews its obligations as they relate to compliance with environmental laws, including site restoration and remediation. During the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no known environmental contingencies that required the Company to recognize a liability. Legal proceedings In the normal course of business, the Company may be notified of possible claims or assessments. The Company will record a provision for these claims when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss, or a range of the potential loss, can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed regularly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information or events pertaining to a particular case. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. Note 11 - Subsequent events Events that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements were available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. The effects of subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date are recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Subsequent events which provide evidence about conditions that existed after the balance sheet date, require disclosure in the accompanying notes. Management evaluated the activity of the Company through March 27, 2020 (the date the financial statements were available to be issued) and concluded that no subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition in the financial statements or disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. 14
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Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Balance Sheet December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Assets 2018 Current Assets Cash $ 624,854 Accounts receivable 46,921 Unbilled receivable 214,836 Prepaid expenses 80,422 Total current assets 967,033 Property and equipment, net 28,361,417 Total assets $ 29,328,450 Liabilities and Members' Equity Current liabilities Accounts payable $ 25,000 Accrued expenses 598,948 Total current liabilities 623,948 Equity Members' equity 28,704,502 Total liabilities and members' equity $ 29,328,450 See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 2



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Statement of Operations Year Ended December 31, 2018 (unaudited) 2018 Revenue from power purchase agreements $ 1,515,183 Revenue from production incentives 70,866 Revenue from the sale of renewable energy certificates 816,108 Other revenue 42,195 Total revenue 2,444,352 Operating expenses Depreciation 1,179,759 Professional fees 211,300 Operations and maintenance fees 193,400 Insurance 92,599 Management fees 32,029 Miscellaneous expenses 4,934 Property and other taxes 850 Total operating expenses 1,714,871 Operating income 729,481 Other expenses Interest expense - Net income $ 729,481 See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 3



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Statement of Members' Equity Year Ended December 31, 2018 (unaudited) 2018 Members' equity Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 27,774,444 Net income 729,481 Contributions from members 2,423,010 Distributions to members (1,708,966) Distributions payable (513,467) Balance, December 31, 2018 $ 28,704,502 See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 4



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended December 31, 2018 (unaudited) 2018 Cash flows from operating activities Net income $ 729,481 Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activites: Depreciation 1,179,759 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable (12,635) Unbilled receivable 329,434 Prepaid expenses (47,280) Accounts payable and accrued expenses 86,674 Net cash provided by operating activities 2,265,433 Cash flows used in investing activities: Purchases of property and equipment (2,423,010) Net cash used in investing activities (2,423,010) Cash flows from financing activities: Contributions from members 2,423,010 Distributions to members (1,708,966) Net cash provided by financing activities 714,044 Net change in cash 556,467 Cash at beginning of period 68,387 Cash at end of period $ 624,854 Supplemental information: Cash paid for interest $ - Supplemental noncash investing and financing transactions: Accrued distributions to members $ 513,467 See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 5



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Note 1 - Organization and nature of operations Helix Fund I, LLC (”Helix Fund”) was formed on December 2, 2016 as a Delaware limited liability company. On December 5, 2016, the Class A Member and HA Helix LLC (“Class B Member”) entered into a Limited Liability Company Agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) to own one hundred percent (100%) of the Class A Interests and one hundred percent (100%) of the Class B Interests, respectively. On December 5, 2016, the Company, together with Class A Member, Class B Member, SunPower Helix I, LLC (“Seller”), SunPower Capital Services, LLC, and SunPower Corporation, Systems (“Contractor”), entered into a Purchase and Contribution Agreement (“PCA”), to acquire from Seller one hundred percent (100%) of the equity interests of certain limited liability companies (each, a “ProjectCo” and collectively with the Helix Fund, the “Company”) that own and operate one or more photovoltaic solar energy generating systems (each, a “System” and collectively, “Systems”). The purchase of the ProjectCos was funded through contributions from the Members. On March 10, 2017, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members’ contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project I, LLC, Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC, Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC and Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with their respective ProjectCos. On December 20, 2017, the LLC Agreement was amended and restated to admit SunPower Capital Services, LLC (“Class C Member”). The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. On April 26, 2018, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members’ contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project III, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with Helix Project III, LLC (a “ProjectCo”). As of December 31, 2018, Helix Fund has purchased seven ProjectCos and 19 Systems (see Note 3). Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis

of accounting The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Helix Fund I, LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Northstar Macys US West 2016, LLC; Northstar Macys Colorado, LLC; Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC; Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC; Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC; Helix Project I, LLC; and Helix Project III, LLC. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Use of estimates The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include, among others, the estimates for future cash flow, fair value, and estimated useful life and salvage value of the systems. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. 6



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Accounts receivable Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company assesses whether an allowance for doubtful accounts is needed for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers the aging profile of outstanding receivables, and existing industry and other economic data. There is no allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2018. Property and equipment Property and equipment are carried at the acquisition price paid by the Company, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is accounted for using the straight-line method over the lesser of the Purchase Power Agreement (“PPA”) term or the System’s useful life, whichever is shorter. The depreciable lives ranged from 16 to 20 years starting on the respective System’s commercial operating date. The salvage value is the expected fair value of the System at the end of the depreciation period. The salvage value shall be estimated at twenty percent (20%) of the purchase price, which is the fair market value at acquisition. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses related to retirements or disposition of property and equipment are recognized in the period incurred. Impairment of long-lived assets The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, such as property and equipment with finite lives, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Factors considered important that could result in an impairment review include significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of acquired assets, and significant negative industry or economic trends. The impairment evaluation includes a review of the initial model used for acquisition that includes estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets over the useful lives to ensure the future undiscounted net cash flows is sufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets over the remaining estimated useful lives. An

impairment loss in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value would be recorded if the cash flows are not greater than the carrying value. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not record any impairment charges because no impairment trigger events occurred. Income taxes The Company has elected to be taxed as a partnership. Accordingly, the taxable income or loss of the Company is reported in the tax returns of the Members and no provision for federal or state income taxes is reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Tax years since 2016 for federal and state income tax returns are open to examination from the Internal Revenue Service. Asset retirement obligations and asset removal agreement The Company's asset retirement obligations (ARO) relate to the Company's contractual obligations to retire the solar facilities under the terms of site lease agreements with the offtaker, or affiliates of the offtakers, of its PPAs. The land and roof leases require that, in addition to retirement of the solar facilities upon lease termination, the leased land or roof be restored to an agreed-upon condition. 7



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) On December 5, 2016, the Company entered into a System Removal Agreement with the Contractor, an affiliate of the Class C Member, requiring the Contractor to remove and administer the sale of the Systems at the Contractor’s expense (asset removal rights). This System Removal Agreement was entered in conjunction with an O&M agreement with the Contractor. The Company recorded the present value of the estimated obligations as they were incurred. Upon initial recognition of the Company's ARO, the carrying amount of the solar facilities was also increased. The asset retirement obligations are accreted to their future value at the expected time of retirement and the capitalized amount to solar facilities is depreciated over the estimated useful life. The Company periodically reviews the estimated ARO related to its contractual obligations to retire the solar facilities from the leased sites upon which the solar facilities were built. No adjustments to the ARO were made during the year ended December 31, 2018. The asset removal rights from the Contractor is computed in the same manner as the ARO and effectively offsets the impacts of the ARO on the related asset removal cost included in the carrying amount of the solar facilities, the related depreciation expense of that asset removal cost, and the ARO accretion expense. The Company has elected to present the ARO net of the equally offsetting asset removal rights from the Contractor in the balance sheet. The following table reflects the changes in the asset retirement obligation: Asset retirement obligation, beginning: $ 506,148 Liabilities incurred 48,494 Accretion expense 109,744 Asset retirement obligation, ending: $ 664,386 Revenue recognition The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of electricity under PPAs with various entities upon the delivery of power at pre-determined rates specified in each contract. The Company determined the PPAs do not meet the definition of a lease or derivative and are accounted for as executory contracts. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed, and collectability is reasonably assured. As such, revenue on executory contracts is

recognized when the underlying physical transaction is completed. See Note 5 for further analysis of the PPAs. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) under Renewable Energy Credits (“REC”) contracts. The Company has elected an accounting policy to treat REC revenue as a form of output from the Systems. The Company has also elected to treat pre-determined pricing in its contracts as fixed prices. The Company has determined its long-term REC contracts do not meet the criteria to be defined as a lease or classified as a derivative. The Company recognizes revenues generated under the REC contracts when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed, and collectability is reasonably assured. Therefore, revenue is recognized from the sale of RECs upon the transfer of RECs to the buyer. The Company recognizes revenue from the California Solar Initiative (“CSI”) program upon the delivery of electricity. The Company has elected an accounting policy to treat revenue from the CSI program contracts as a government incentive and not as a form of output from the Systems. The Company recognizes revenues generated under the CSI program contracts when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed, and collectability is reasonably assured. Therefore, the Company recognizes revenue upon the delivery of electricity. 8



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Sales tax The Company has elected not to report sales taxes in revenues. The sales taxes are reported as accrued expenses. Leases Rents payable under operating leases are charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. The excess of straight-line rent expense over scheduled rent payments is recorded as deferred rent. For the year ended December 31, 2018, no deferred rent was recorded. Fair value of assets and liabilities The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, unbilled receivable, prepaid expenses, and accrued liabilities approximate their respective fair values as of December 31, 2018. Recent accounting pronouncements In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an update to the standards to clarify the definition of a business to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The new guidance is effective for the Company no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and requires a prospective approach to adoption. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In February 2016, the FASB issued an update to the standards to require lessees to recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use asset for all leases (lease terms of more than 12 months) at the commencement date. The new guidance is effective for the Company no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and requires a modified retrospective approach to adoption. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In May 2014, the FASB issued a new revenue recognition standard based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be

entitled in exchange for those goods and services. In August 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date of this standard for all entities by one year. The new revenue recognition standard becomes effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, and is to be applied retrospectively using one of two prescribed methods. The Company is evaluating the application method and impact on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. Note 3 - Asset acquisition On April 26, 2018 and October 5, 2018, Helix Fund acquired 100% of the membership interest of the below ProjectCos from the Seller. The transaction included the acquisition of certain project contract rights, including PPAs and site leases. Pursuant to the PCA, Helix Fund paid an aggregate purchase price of $2,423,010 which was capitalized as part of property and equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 9



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Helix Project III, LLC $ 2,423,010 Total asset acquisition $ 2,423,010 Note 4 - Property and equipment, net Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2018: Property and equipment, cost $ 30,547,851 Accumulated depreciation (2,186,434) Property and equipment, net $ 28,361,417 Note 5 - Purchase power agreements The ProjectCos have entered into PPAs with various third-party off-takers. The terms of the PPAs range from 16 to 20 years starting on the respective System’s commercial operation date. Throughout the term of the PPAs, the off-taker agrees to purchase all of the energy delivered by the Systems at rates specified in the PPA. The PPAs with two of the off-takers permit the off-taker to purchase the System at fair market value on the specified anniversaries of the Commercial Operation Date as defined in the PPA terms. Upon expiration of the initial term, the PPAs permit the off-taker to extend the PPA at the fair market price for electricity generated by solar PV systems, purchase the System at fair market value, or require the ProjectCo to remove the System. Note 6 - Related party transactions Purchase and contribution agreement On April 26, 2018, the Company amended and restated the PCA for the Members’ contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project III, LLC with SunPower Helix I, LLC, an affiliate of the Class C Member. See Note 1. Management services On December 5, 2016, Helix Fund entered into a Management Agreement with the Class C Member to provide asset management services to the Company. The Management Agreement was amended on April 26, 2018. The agreement will automatically renew for one-year terms unless written notice is provided. The services provided for each System and ProjectCo shall terminate upon expiration of the respective PPA or the date in which the ProjectCo is ceases to be a subsidiary of Helix Fund. During the year ended 2018, Helix Fund incurred and paid $32,029 of management fees. Operations and maintenance services On December 5, 2016, Helix Fund entered into an Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) Agreement with the Contractor, an affiliate of

the Class C Member, to provide operation and maintenance services to the ProjectCos. The Company pays an annual fee up to $20,000 per system, which is payable in quarterly installments. The fee shall increase by two and a half percent (2.5%) annually. The term for each System commences on the Substantial Completion Date, as defined in the applicable Engineering, Procurement and Construction Agreement, and last for ten years. During the year ended 2018, Helix Fund incurred $193,400 of operations and maintenance fees. 10



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Note 7 - Members’ equity Members’ contributions As of December 31, 2018, contributions made by the Members are as follows: December 05, 2016 $ 10,057,747 December 23, 2016 1,069,611 March 10, 2017 14,602,885 March 30, 2017 2,394,598 April 26, 2018 495,602 October 05, 2018 1,927,408 Total capital contributions $ 30,547,851 No further contributions are required from the Members unless all of the Members consent thereto in writing. In no circumstances shall the Class C Member be required or permitted to make any contributions. Profit and losses allocation Profit and losses are allocated using the provisions of the LLC Agreement. Accordingly, all items of Company income, gain, loss and deduction (or items thereof) shall be allocated among the Capital Accounts of the Class A and B Members as follows: (i) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the Effective Date and ending on December 31, 2024 (“Allocation Period 1”) shall be allocated 99% to the Class A Member and 1% to the Class B Member; (ii) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the day immediately following the last day of Allocation Period 1 and ending on December 31, 2025 (“Allocation Period 2”) shall be allocated 84.5% to the Class A Member and 15.5% to the Class B Member; provided that if the Placed In Service Date for a Project occurs during 2017, then the Members may agree to adjust profit and loss allocation percentages during Allocation Period 2, and (iii) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the day immediately following the last day of Allocation Period 2 (“Allocation Period 3”) shall be allocated 5% to the Class A Member and 95% with respect to the Class B Member. Items of Company deduction or loss shall be adjusted upon certain tax events. Beginning in 2023, the Class A Member shall be allocated sufficient income (but in no event, shall such allocation exceed 99% of the Company income) to reduce any deficit in such Class A Member’s capital account. The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were

required as part of the agreement. As a result, there was no profit and loss allocation to the Class C Member. 11



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Distributions Pursuant to the terms of the LLC Agreement, distributions of net cash flow from operations for each prior calendar quarter shall be made to the Members as follows: (i) Net Cash Flow attributable to the period commencing on the Effective Date and through the end of the PPA term of the ProjectCo shall be distributed to the Members as follows: (A) 98% to the Class B Member and (B) 2% to the Class A Member. (ii) Net Cash Flow attributable to the period commencing on the day after the PPA term of the ProjectCo shall be distributed to the Members as follows: (A) 55% to the Class B Members and (B) 45% to the Class A Members. As of December 31, 2018, distributions to the Class A Member and Class B Member totaled $62,897 and $3,090,659, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, $10,095 and $503,372 of distributions were payable to the Class A Member and Class B Member, respectively. The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. As a result, there were no distributions to the Class C Member. Members’ equity allocation At December 31, 2018, consolidated members’ equity of $28,704,502 was allocated $13,274,583 to the Class A Member, $15,429,919 to the Class B Member, and $0 to the Class C Member. Note 8 - Concentration of credit risk The Company maintains cash with financial institutions. At times, these balances may exceed the federal insurance limits; however, the Company has not experienced any losses with respect to its bank balances in excess of government provided insurance. Management believes that no significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to these balances for the year ended December 31, 2018. Note 9 - Concentration risks Approximately 51% of the Company’s total revenue is derived from PPAs for Macy’s Corporate Services, Inc., for the year ended December 31, 2018. Note 10 - Commitments and contingencies Site agreements The ProjectCos have entered into site agreements with the offtaker or affiliate of the offtaker of the property upon which the Systems are located. The site leases commence on the

Effective Date of the site agreements and extend for 20 years or until the PPA expires. The base rent due to the landlord is de minimis. Environmental contingencies The Company reviews its obligations as they relate to compliance with environmental laws, including site restoration and remediation. During the year ended December 31, 2018, there were no known environmental contingencies that required the Company to recognize a liability. 12



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2018 (unaudited) Legal proceedings In the normal course of business, the Company may be notified of possible claims or assessments. The Company will record a provision for these claims when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss, or a range of the potential loss, can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed regularly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information or events pertaining to a particular case. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. Note 11 - Subsequent events Events that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements were available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. The effects of subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date are recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Subsequent events which provide evidence about conditions that existed after the balance sheet date, require disclosure in the accompanying notes. Management evaluated the activity of the Company through March 26, 2019 (the date the financial statements were available to be issued) and concluded that except as noted below, no subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition in the financial statements or disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. On February 15, 2019, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members’ contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project IV, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with Helix Project IV, LLC. 13



 





Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent Auditor's Report Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Index Page Independent Auditor's Report 2 Consolidated Financial Statements Consolidated Balance Sheets 3 Consolidated Statements of Operations 4 Consolidated Statements of Members' Equity 5 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 6 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 7 1



 



Independent Auditor's Report To the Members and Management Helix Fund I, LLC We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Helix Fund I, LLC, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, members' equity and cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements. Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Auditor's Responsibility Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. Opinion In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Helix Fund I, LLC as of December 31, 2017, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Atlanta, Georgia March 21, 2018 2



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Balance Sheets December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 Assets December 31, 2017 January 1, 2017 Current assets Cash $ 68,387 $ - Accounts receivable 34,286 1,103 Unbilled receivable 544,270 - Prepaid expenses 33,142 - Total current assets 680,085 1,103 Property and equipment, net 27,118,166 11,093,832 Total assets $ 27,798,251 $ 11,094,935 Liabilities and Members' Equity Current liabilities Accrued expenses $ 23,807 $ 14,841 Total current liabilities 23,807 14,841 Equity Members' equity 27,774,444 11,080,094 Total liabilities and members' equity $ 27,798,251 $ 11,094,935 See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 3



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Statements of Operations Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017 and Period from December 2, 2016 (Inception) Through January 1, 2017 December 31, 2017 January 1, 2017 Revenue from power purchase agreements $ 1,267,433 $ 1,103 Revenue from production incentives 66,412 - Revenue from the sale of renewable energy certificates 518,102 - Total revenue 1,851,947 1,103 Operating expenses Depreciation 973,149 33,526 Operations and maintenance fees 126,375 - Insurance 88,416 11,081 Management fees 25,080 986 Miscellaneous expenses 8,789 2,774 Total operating expenses 1,221,809 48,367 Operating income (loss) 630,138 (47,264) Other expenses Interest expense 2,148 - Net income (loss) $ 627,990 $ (47,264) See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 4



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Statements of Members' Equity Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017 and Period from December 2, 2016 (Inception) Through January 1, 2017 Members' equity Balance, December 2, 2016 (inception) $ - Net loss (47,264) Contributions from members 11,127,358 Balance, January 1, 2017 11,080,094 Net income 627,990 Contributions from members 16,997,483 Distributions to members (931,123) Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 27,774,444 See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 5



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017 and Period from December 2, 2016 (Inception) Through January 1, 2017 December 31, 2017 January 1, 2017 Cash flows from operating activities: Net income (loss) $ 627,990 $ (47,264) Reconciliation of net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation 973,149 33,526 Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable (33,183) (1,103) Unbilled receivable (544,270) - Prepaid expenses (33,142) - Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,966 14,841 Net cash provided by operating activities 999,510 - Cash flows used in financing activities: Distributions to members (931,123) - Proceeds from notes payable 100,000 - Payment of notes payable (100,000) - Net cash used in financing activities (931,123) - Net change in cash 68,387 - Cash at beginning of period - - Cash at end of period $ 68,387 $ - Supplemental information: Cash paid for interest $ 2,148 $ - Supplemental noncash investing and financing transactions: Property and equipment purchased $ (16,997,483) $ (11,127,358) Member contributions 16,997,483 11,127,358 $ - $ - See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 6



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 Note 1 - Organization and nature of operations Helix Fund I, LLC (”Helix Fund”) was formed on December 2, 2016 as a Delaware limited liability company. On December 5, 2016, the Class A Member and HA Helix LLC (“Class B Member”) entered into a Limited Liability Company Agreement (the “LLC Agreement”) to own one hundred percent (100%) of the Class A Interests and one hundred percent (100%) of the Class B Interests, respectively. On December 5, 2016, the Company, together with Class A Member, Class B Member, SunPower Helix I, LLC (“Seller”), SunPower Capital Services, LLC, and SunPower Corporation, Systems (“Contractor”), entered into a Purchase and Contribution Agreement (“PCA”), to acquire from Seller one hundred percent (100%) of the equity interests of certain limited liability companies (each, a “ProjectCo” and collectively with the Helix Fund, the “Company”) that own and operate one or more photovoltaic solar energy generating systems (each, a “System” and collectively, “Systems”). The purchase of the ProjectCos was funded through contributions from the Members. On March 10, 2017, the PCA was amended and restated for the Members’ contributions to Helix Fund to fund the acquisition of Helix Project I, LLC, Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC, Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC and Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC and inclusion of closing deliverables and conditions precedent with their respective ProjectCos. On December 20, 2017, the LLC Agreement was amended and restated to admit SunPower Capital Services, LLC (“Class C Member”). The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. As of December 31, 2017, Helix Fund has purchased six ProjectCos and 18 Systems (see Note 3). Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of accounting The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP). Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Helix Fund I, LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries,

Northstar Macys US West 2016, LLC; Northstar Macys Colorado, LLC; Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC; Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC; Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC; and Helix Project I, LLC. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Fiscal year The Company reports on a fiscal-year basis and ends its months on the Sunday closest to the end of the applicable calendar month end. Accordingly, every fifth or sixth year will be a 53-week fiscal year. Fiscal year 2016 consisted of 4 weeks, starting on December 2, 2016 and ending on January 1, 2017. Fiscal year 2017 consisted of 52 weeks, starting on January 2, 2017 and ending on December 31, 2017 for fiscal year 2017. 7



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 Use of estimates The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include, among others, the estimates for future cash flow, fair value, and estimated useful life and salvage value of the systems. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. Accounts receivable Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The Company assesses whether an allowance for doubtful accounts is needed for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers the aging profile of outstanding receivables, and existing industry and other economic data. There is no allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017. Property and equipment Property and equipment are carried at the acquisition price paid by the Company, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is accounted for using the straight-line method over the lesser of the Purchase Power Agreement (“PPA”) term or the System’s useful life, whichever is shorter. The depreciable lives ranged from 16 to 20 years starting on the respective System’s commercial operating date. The salvage value is the expected fair value of the System at the end of the depreciation period. The salvage value shall be estimated at twenty percent (20%) of the purchase price, which is the fair market value at acquisition. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses related to retirements or disposition of property and equipment are recognized in the period incurred. Impairment of long-lived assets The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, such as property and equipment with finite lives, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. Factors considered important that could result in an impairment review include significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of

acquired assets, and significant negative industry or economic trends. The impairment evaluation includes a review of the initial model used for acquisition that includes estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets over the useful lives to ensure the future undiscounted net cash flows is sufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets over the remaining estimated useful lives. An impairment loss in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value would be recorded if the cash flows are not greater than the carrying value. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the period ended January 1, 2017, the Company did not record any impairment charges because no impairment trigger events occurred. Income taxes The Company has elected to be taxed as a partnership. Accordingly, the taxable income or loss of the Company is reported in the tax returns of the Members and no provision for federal or state income taxes is reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The 2016 federal and state income tax returns are open to examination from the Internal Revenue Service. Asset retirement obligations and asset removal agreement The Company's asset retirement obligations (ARO) relate to the Company's contractual obligations to retire the solar facilities under the terms of site lease agreements with the offtaker, or affiliates of the offtakers, of its PPAs. The land and roof leases require that, in addition to retirement of the solar facilities upon lease termination, the leased land or roof be restored to an agreed-upon condition. 8



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 On December 5, 2016, the Company entered into a System Removal Agreement with the Contractor, an affiliate of the Class C Member, requiring the Contractor to remove and administer the sale of the Systems at the Contractor’s expense (asset removal rights). This System Removal Agreement was entered in conjunction with an O&M agreement with the Contractor. The Company recorded the present value of the estimated obligations as they were incurred. Upon initial recognition of the Company's ARO, the carrying amount of the solar facilities was also increased. The asset retirement obligations are accreted to their future value at the expected time of retirement and the capitalized amount to solar facilities is depreciated over the estimated useful life. The Company periodically reviews the estimated ARO related to its contractual obligations to retire the solar facilities from the leased sites upon which the solar facilities were built. No adjustments to the ARO were made during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the period ended January 1, 2017. The asset removal rights from the Contractor is computed in the same manner as the ARO and effectively offsets the impacts of the ARO on the related asset removal cost included in the carrying amount of the solar facilities, the related depreciation expense of that asset removal cost, and the ARO accretion expense. The Company has elected to present the ARO net of the equally offsetting asset removal rights from the Contractor in the balance sheet. The following table reflects the changes in the asset retirement obligation: December 31, 2017 January 1, 2017 Asset retirement obligation, beginning: $ 107,964 $ - Liabilities incurred 311,070 107,964 Accretion expense 87,114 - Asset retirement obligation, ending: $ 506,148 $ 107,964 Revenue recognition The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of electricity under PPAs with various entities upon the delivery of power at pre-determined rates specified in each contract. The Company determined the PPAs do not meet the definition of a lease or derivative and are accounted for as executory contracts. Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price

is fixed, and collectability is reasonably assured. As such, revenue on executory contracts is recognized when the underlying physical transaction is completed. See Note 5 for further analysis of the PPAs. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) under Renewable Energy Credits (“REC”) contracts. The Company has elected an accounting policy to treat REC revenue as a form of output from the Systems. The Company has also elected to treat pre-determined pricing in its contracts as fixed prices. The Company has determined its long-term REC contracts do not meet the criteria to be defined as a lease or classified as a derivative. The Company recognizes revenues generated under the REC contracts when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed, and collectability is reasonably assured. Therefore, revenue is recognized from the sale of RECs upon the transfer of RECs to the buyer. 9



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 The Company recognizes revenue from the California Solar Initiative (“CSI”) program upon the delivery of electricity. The Company has elected an accounting policy to treat revenue from the CSI program contracts as a government incentive and not as a form of output from the Systems. The Company recognizes revenues generated under the CSI program contracts when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed, and collectability is reasonably assured. Therefore, the Company recognizes revenue upon the delivery of electricity. Sales tax The Company has elected not to report sales taxes in revenues. The sales taxes are reported as accrued expenses. Leases Rents payable under operating leases are charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. The excess of straight-line rent expense over scheduled rent payments is recorded as deferred rent. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the period ended January 1, 2017, no deferred rent was recorded. Fair value of assets and liabilities The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, unbilled receivable, prepaid expenses, and accrued liabilities approximate their respective fair values as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017. Recent accounting pronouncements In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued an update to the standards to clarify the definition of a business to assist entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The new guidance is effective for the Company no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2019 and requires a prospective approach to adoption. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In February 2016, the FASB issued an update to the standards to require lessees to recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use asset for all

leases (lease terms of more than 12 months) at the commencement date. The new guidance is effective for the Company no later than the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and requires a modified retrospective approach to adoption. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. In May 2014, the FASB issued a new revenue recognition standard based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. In August 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date of this standard for all entities by one year. The new revenue recognition standard becomes effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2019, and is to be applied retrospectively using one of two prescribed methods. The Company is evaluating the application method and impact on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. Note 3 - Asset acquisition On March 10 and 30 of 2017, Helix Fund acquired 100% of the membership interest of the below ProjectCos from the Seller. The transaction included the acquisition of certain project contract rights, 10



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 including PPAs and site leases. Pursuant to the PCA, Helix Fund paid an aggregate purchase price of $16,997,483 which was capitalized as part of property and equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The transactions are accounted for as asset acquisitions. Northstar Macys East Coast 2016, LLC $ 5,965,900 Northstar Macys Nevada, LLC 2,985,315 Northstar Macys Illinois, LLC 5,053,020 Helix Project I, LLC 2,993,248 Total asset acquisition $ 16,997,483 On December 5 and 23, 2016, Helix Fund acquired 100% of the membership interest of the below ProjectCos from the Seller. The transaction included the acquisition of certain project contract rights, including PPAs and site leases. Pursuant to the PCA, Helix Fund paid an aggregate purchase price of $11,127,358 which was capitalized as part of property and equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The transactions are accounted for as asset acquisitions. Northstar Macys US West, 2016, LLC $ 10,057,747 Northstar Macys Colorado, LLC 1,069,611 Total asset acquisition $ 11,127,358 The Company made capital calls of its Members to purchase the assets. For the convenience of the parties involved, the Members were instructed to make their respective contributions directly to the seller. These contributions are noncash as Helix Fund never received or disbursed cash as part of the transaction. Note 4 - Property and equipment, net Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017: December 31, 2017 January 1, 2017 Property and equipment, cost $ 28,124,841 $ 11,127,358 Accumulated depreciation (1,006,675) (33,526) Property and equipment, net $ 27,118,166 $ 11,093,832 Note 5 - Purchase power agreements The ProjectCos have entered into PPAs with various third-party off-takers. The terms of the PPAs range from 16 to 20 years starting on the respective System’s commercial operation date. Throughout the term of the PPAs, the off-taker agrees to purchase all of the energy delivered by the Systems at rates specified in the PPA. 11



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 The PPAs with one of the off-takers permits the off-taker to purchase the System at fair market value on the fifteenth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date. Upon expiration of the initial term, the PPAs permit the off-taker to extend the PPA at the fair market price for electricity generated by solar PV systems, purchase the System at fair market value, or require the ProjectCo to remove the System. Note 6 - Related party transactions Management services On December 5, 2016, Helix Fund entered into a Management Agreement with the Class C Member to provide asset management services to the Company. The Company pays an annual management fee of approximately $25,000, which is payable in quarterly installments. The fee shall increase by two and a half percent (2.5%) annually. The agreement will automatically renew for one-year terms unless written notice is provided. The services provided for each System and ProjectCo shall terminate upon expiration of the respective PPA or the date in which the ProjectCo is ceases to be a subsidiary of Helix Fund. During the fiscal year ended 2017, Helix Fund incurred and paid $25,080 of management fees. During the period ended January 1, 2017, Helix Fund incurred and paid $986 of management fees. Operations and maintenance services On December 5, 2016, Helix Fund entered into an Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) Agreement with the Contractor, an affiliate of the Class C Member, to provide operation and maintenance services to the ProjectCos. The Company pays an annual fee up to $20,000 per system, which is payable in quarterly installments. The fee shall increase by two and a half percent (2.5%) annually. The term for each System commences on the Substantial Completion Date, as defined in the applicable Engineering, Procurement and Construction Agreement, and last for ten years. During the fiscal year ended 2017, Helix Fund incurred and paid $126,375 of operations and maintenance fees. Helix Fund did not incur any operations and maintenance fees for the period ended January 1, 2017. Note payable On March 10, 2017, Helix Fund entered into a promissory note bearing annual interest at 7% of

$100,000 with the Class B Member. The full balance was paid off on June 30, 2017. Note 7 - Members’ equity Members’ contributions As of December 31, 2017, contributions made by the Members are as follows: December 5, 2016 $ 10,057,747 December 23, 2016 1,069,611 March 10, 2017 14,602,885 March 30, 2017 2,394,598 Total capital contributions $ 28,124,841 No further contributions are required from the Members unless all of the Members consent thereto in writing. In no circumstances shall the Class C Member be required or permitted to make any contributions. 12



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 Profit and losses allocation Profit and losses are allocated using the provisions of the LLC Agreement. Accordingly, all items of Company income, gain, loss and deduction (or items thereof) shall be allocated among the Capital Accounts of the Class A and B Members as follows: (i) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the Effective Date and ending on December 31, 2024 (“Allocation Period 1”) shall be allocated 99% to the Class A Member and 1% to the Class B Member; (ii) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the day immediately following the last day of Allocation Period 1 and ending on December 31, 2025 (“Allocation Period 2”) shall be allocated 84.5% to the Class A Member and 15.5% to the Class B Member; provided that if the Placed In Service Date for a Project occurs during 2017, then the Members may agree to adjust profit and loss allocation percentages during Allocation Period 2, and (iii) Profits and losses generated during the period of time commencing on the day immediately following the last day of Allocation Period 2 (“Allocation Period 3”) shall be allocated 5% to the Class A Member and 95% with respect to the Class B Member. Items of Company deduction or loss shall be adjusted upon certain tax events. Beginning in 2023, the Class A Member shall be allocated sufficient income (but in no event, shall such allocation exceed 99% of the Company income) to reduce any deficit in such Class A Member’s capital account. The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. As a result, there was no profit and loss allocation to the Class C Member. Distributions Pursuant to the terms of the LLC Agreement, distributions of net cash flow from operations for each prior calendar quarter shall be made to the Members as follows: (i) Net Cash Flow attributable to the period commencing on the Effective Date and through the end of the PPA term of the ProjectCo shall be distributed to the Members as follows: (A) 98% to the Class B Member and (B) 2% to the Class A Member. (ii) Net Cash Flow attributable to the

period commencing on the day after the PPA term of the ProjectCo shall be distributed to the Members as follows: (A) 55% to the Class B Members and (B) 45% to the Class A Members. As of December 31, 2017, distributions to the Class A Member and Class B Member totaled $18,622 and for $912,501, respectively. There were no distributions for the period ended January 1, 2017. The Class C Member was admitted to conduct administrative activities for the Company. No contributions were required as part of the agreement. As a result, there were no distributions to the Class C Member. 13



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 Members’ equity allocation At December 31, 2017, consolidated members’ equity of $27,774,444 was allocated $11,748,620 to the Class A Member, $16,025,824 to the Class B Member, and $0 to the Class C Member. At January 1, 2017, consolidated members’ equity of $11,080,094 was allocated $4,376,425 to the Class A Member and $6,703,669 to the Class B Member. Note 8 - Concentration of credit risk The Company maintains cash with financial institutions. At times, these balances may exceed the federal insurance limits; however, the Company has not experienced any losses with respect to its bank balances in excess of government provided insurance. Management believes that no significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to these balances for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the period ended January 1, 2017. Note 9 - Concentration risks Approximately 58% and 10% of the Company’s total revenue is derived from PPAs for Macy’s Corporate Services, Inc. and Arvin Union School District, respectively, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. All revenue was derived from PPAs for Macy’s Corporate Services, Inc. for the period ended January 1, 2017. Note 10 - Commitments and contingencies Site agreements The ProjectCos have entered into site agreements with the offtaker or affiliate of the offtaker of the property upon which the Systems are located. The site leases commence on the Effective Date of the site agreements and extend for 20 years or until the PPA expires. The base rent due to the landlord is de minimis. Environmental contingencies The Company reviews its obligations as they relate to compliance with environmental laws, including site restoration and remediation. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and the period ended January 1, 2017, there were no known environmental contingencies that required the Company to recognize a liability. Legal proceedings In the normal course of business, the Company may be notified of possible claims or assessments. The Company will record a provision for these claims when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss, or

a range of the potential loss, can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed regularly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information or events pertaining to a particular case. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. 14



 



Helix Fund I, LLC Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 Note 11 - Subsequent events Events that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements were available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. The effects of subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date are recognized in the accompanying financial statements. Subsequent events which provide evidence about conditions that existed after the balance sheet date, require disclosure in the accompanying notes. Management evaluated the activity of the Company through March 21, 2018 (the date the financial statements were available to be issued) and concluded that no subsequent events have occurred that would require recognition in the financial statements or disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. 15
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TRccjZ_X gR]fV `W eYV RddVe e` eYV f_UZdT`f_eVU TRdY W]`hd `W eYV cV]ReVU `aVcReZ`_d e` UVeVc^Z_V hYVeYVc R_j Z^aRZc^V_e ViZded* JV]VgR_e WRTe`cd( R]`_X hZeY ^R_RXV^V_eqd a]R_d hZeY cVdaVTe e` `aVcReZ`_d( RcV T`_dZUVcVU Z_ RddVddZ_X eYV cVT`gVcRSZ]Zej `W ]`_X)]ZgVU RddVed* AW eYV ;`^aR_j UVeVc^Z_Vd( SRdVU `_ dfTY ^VRdfcVd( eYRe eYV TRccjZ_X R^`f_e Zd Z^aRZcVU( eYV ]`_X)]ZgVU RddVed hZ]] SV hcZeeV_ U`h_ e` eYVZc WRZc gR]fV hZeY R T`ccVda`_UZ_X TYRcXV e` eYV T`_d`]ZUReVU deReV^V_ed `W `aVcReZ`_d* F` Z^aRZc^V_e hRd cVT`cUVU Z_ .,-5( .,-4 R_U .,-3* 3LXP\HZP\L 8TYZX[SLTZY HTK 7LKNPTN 0JZP\PZPLY n LYV ;`^aR_j feZ]ZkVd UVcZgReZgV Z_decf^V_ed e` ^R_RXV Zed Via`dfcV e` W]fTefReZ`_d Z_ ecR_d^ZddZ`_ T`_XVdeZ`_ %o>LJdp& %dVV F`eV 2&* LYV ;`^aR_j cVT`X_ZkVd Zed UVcZgReZgV Z_decf^V_ed `_ eYV T`_d`]ZUReVU SR]R_TV dYVVed Rd VZeYVc RddVed `c ]ZRSZ]ZeZVd Re WRZc gR]fV* LYV TYR_XV Z_ WRZc gR]fV Zd Z^^VUZReV]j cVT`X_ZkVU Z_ VRc_Z_Xd Rd R T`^a`_V_e `W `aVcReZ_X cVgV_fVd `_ eYV T`_d`]ZUReVU deReV^V_ed `W `aVcReZ`_d* 0YYLZ ALZPXLSLTZ >IRPNHZPUT n LYV ;`^aR_j V_eVcd Z_e` RXcVV^V_ed e` ]VRdV ]R_U `_ hYZTY e` T`_decfTe R_U `aVcReV Zed hZ_U V_VcXj ac`[VTe* HfcdfR_e e` TVceRZ_ ]VRdV RXcVV^V_ed( eYV ;`^aR_j Zd cVbfZcVU e` UVT`^^ZddZ`_ Zed hZ_U V_VcXj ac`[VTe e` ac`gZUV W`c eYV cVde`cReZ`_ `W eYV ]VRdVU ac`aVcej Re eYV V_U `W eYV ]VRdV eVc^d* LYV ;`^aR_j cVT`X_ZkVd R_ RddVe cVeZcV^V_e `S]ZXReZ`_ %o8JGp& hYV_ Ze YRd R ]VXR] `S]ZXReZ`_ e` aVcW`c^ UVT`^^ZddZ`_Z_X( cVT]R^ReZ`_ `c cV^`gR] RTeZgZeZVd fa`_ cVeZcV^V_e `W R_ RddVe* OYV_ cVT`cUZ_X R_ 8JG( eYV acVdV_e gR]fV `W eYV ac`[VTeVU ]ZRSZ]Zej Zd cVT`X_ZkVU Z_ eYV aVcZ`U Z_ hYZTY Ze Zd Z_TfccVU( ZW R cVRd`_RS]V VdeZ^ReV `W WRZc gR]fV TR_ SV ^RUV* LYV ]ZRSZ]Zej Zd RTTcVeVU VRTY aVcZ`U `gVc eYV ̂RiZ^f^ eVc^ `W eYV T`_ecRTefR] RXcVV^V_ed* LYV

;`^aR_j cVT`cUd R_ `WWdVeeZ_X RddVe e` eYV `S]ZXReZ`_ Rd R_ Z_TcVRdV e` eYV TRccjZ_X R^`f_e `W eYV cV]ReVU ]`_X)]ZgVU RddVe R_U UVacVTZReVd eYRe T`de `gVc eYV ^RiZ^f^ eVc^ `W eYV T`_ecRTefR] RXcVV^V_ed* LYV cVdZUfR] gR]fV `W eYV cV]ReVU ]`_X)]ZgVU RddVe Zd ViT]fUVU Wc`^ eYV TR]Tf]ReZ`_ %dVV F`eV 3&* LYV ;`^aR_j fdVd dZX_ZWZTR_e Rddf^aeZ`_d R_U VdeZ^ReVd e` UVeVc^Z_V eYV R^`f_e `W eYV RddVe cVeZcV^V_e `S]ZXReZ`_d( Z_T]fUZ_X eYV R^`f_e R_U eZ^Z_X `W WfefcV ViaV_UZefcVd( eYV UReV RddVed ^Rj SV UVT`^^ZddZ`_VU( R_U eYV Z_W]ReZ`_ VWWVTe `_ UVT`^^ZddZ`_Z_X T`ded* KZ_TV eYVdV VdeZ^ReVd TR_ TYR_XV SRdVU `_ _Vh Z_W`c^ReZ`_( eYV ;`^aR_j aVcZ`UZTR]]j cV)VgR]fReVd eYVdV Rddf^aeZ`_d R_U VdeZ^ReVd* <fcZ_X .,-3( eYV ;`^aR_j cVT`cUVU RU[fde^V_ed cV]ReVU e` cVgZdVU T`de VdeZ^ReVd %dVV F`eV 3&* EHXPHIRL PTZLXLYZ LTZPZPLY ` 8_ V_eZej Zd T`_dZUVcVU e` SV R NA= hYV_ Zed e`eR] VbfZej Z_gVde^V_e Re cZd\ Zd _`e dfWWZTZV_e e` aVc^Ze eYV V_eZej e` WZ_R_TV Zed RTeZgZeZVd hZeY`fe RUUZeZ`_R] dfS`cUZ_ReVU WZ_R_TZR] dfaa`ce( `c Zed VbfZej Z_gVde`cd( Rd R Xc`fa( ]RT\ eYV TYRcRTeVcZdeZTd `W YRgZ_X R T`_ec`]]Z_X WZ_R_TZR] Z_eVcVde* 8 cVa`ceZ_X T`^aR_j Zd cVbfZcVU e` T`_d`]ZUReV R NA= Rd Zed acZ^Rcj SV_VWZTZRcj hYV_ Ze YRd S`eY eYV a`hVc e` UZcVTe eYV RTeZgZeZVd `W eYV NA= eYRe ^`de dZX_ZWZTR_e]j Z^aRTe eYV NA=$d VT`_`^ZT aVcW`c^R_TV( R_U eYV `S]ZXReZ`_ e` RSd`cS ]`ddVd `c eYV cZXYe e` cVTVZgV SV_VWZed Wc`^ eYV NA= eYRe T`f]U a`eV_eZR]]j SV dZX_ZWZTR_e e` eYV NA=* LYV ;`^aR_j VgR]fReVd hYVeYVc R_ V_eZej Zd R NA= hYV_VgVc cVT`_dZUVcReZ`_ VgV_ed Rd UVWZ_VU Sj eYV RTT`f_eZ_X XfZUR_TV `TTfc %dVV F`eV 4&* =UTJUTZXURRPTN 8TZLXLYZ n LYV ;`^aR_j ^RZ_eRZ_d T`_ec`] `W @`]UZ_Xd eYc`fXY Zed ^R_RXV^V_e R_U T`_ecRTefR] cZXYed VgV_ eY`fXY `h_VcdYZa Z_eVcVded RcV YV]U Sj `h_Vcd `eYVc eYR_ eYV ;`^aR_j `c Zed cV]ReVU

aRceZVd* 8d R cVdf]e( eYV ;`^aR_j Zd cVbfZcVU e` T`_d`]ZUReV @`]UZ_Xd R_U acVdV_e eYV `eYVc `h_Vcdq Z_eVcVded Rd _`_T`_ec`]]Z_X Z_eVcVded `_ eYV T`_d`]ZUReVU WZ_R_TZR] deReV^V_ed* F`_T`_ec`]]Z_X Z_eVcVde cVacVdV_ed eYV a`ceZ`_ `W eYV ;`^aR_jqd _Ve Z_T`^V %]`dd& R_U _Ve RddVed eYRe Zd R]]`TReVU e` eYV eYZcU aRcej `h_Vcd* F`_T`_ec`]]Z_X Z_eVcVde Zd Z_T]fUVU Rd R T`^a`_V_e `W VbfZej `_ eYV T`_d`]ZUReVU SR]R_TV dYVVed* LYV GaVcReZ_X 8XcVV^V_e `W @`]UZ_Xd TR]]d W`c eYV R]]`TReZ`_ `W ac`WZe R_U ]`dd `_ R_ Z_T`^V eRi SRdZd* 8UUZeZ`_R]]j( TRdY R_U `eYVc SV_VWZed Rdd`TZReVU hZeY eYZd RXcVV^V_e RcV R]]`TReVU Z_ gRcjZ_X R^`f_ed eYc`fXY`fe eYV ]ZWV `W eYV @`]UZ_Xd* LYVcVW`cV( eYV ;`^aR_j R_U `eYVc Z_gVde`cdq %T`]]VTeZgV]j eYV oGh_Vcdp& Z_eVcVded Z_ @`]UZ_Xd RcV _`e WZiVU( R_U eYV @`]UZ_Xd Raa]ZVd eYV @ja`eYVeZTR] DZbfZUReZ`_ Re 9``\ NR]fV %o@D9Np& ^VeY`U Z_ R]]`TReZ_X S``\ ac`WZe `c ]`dd ^VRdfcVU `_ R acV)eRi SRdZd e` eYV Gh_Vcd* ) 4 )



 



LYV @D9N ^VeY`U ^VRdfcVd eYV R^`f_e `W TRdY eYRe VRTY `h_Vc h`f]U cVTVZgV Re VRTY cVa`ceZ_X UReV( Z_T]fUZ_X eRi SV_VWZed cVR]ZkVU Sj eYV Gh_Vcd( fa`_ R Yja`eYVeZTR] ]ZbfZUReZ`_ `W @`]UZ_Xd Re eYV _Ve S``\ gR]fV `W Zed f_UVc]jZ_X RddVed* LYV TYR_XV Z_ eYV R^`f_e `W TRdY eYRe VRTY `h_Vc h`f]U cVTVZgV Re eYV cVa`ceZ_X UReV T`^aRcVU e` eYV R^`f_e Ze h`f]U YRgV cVTVZgVU `_ eYV acVgZ`fd cVa`ceZ_X UReV cVacVdV_ed eYV R^`f_e `W ac`WZe `c ]`dd R]]`TReVU e` VRTY `h_Vc W`c eYV cVa`ceZ_X aVcZ`U* AL\LT[L ALJUNTPZPUT n G_ BR_fRcj -( .,-5( eYV ;`^aR_j RU`aeVU 8KM .,-0),5( ;DTDLSD EPMK 0MLRP@BRQ UHRG 0SQRMKDPQ$ R_U R]] eYV cV]ReVU R^V_U^V_ed( hYZTY TcVReVU R _Vh( acZ_TZa]V)SRdVU cVgV_fV cVT`X_ZeZ`_ WcR^Vh`c\* LYV deR_URcU YRd SVV_ T`UZWZVU Rd 8TT`f_eZ_X KeR_URcUd ;`UZWZTReZ`_ %o8K;p& L`aZT 2,2* LYV T`cV acZ_TZa]V Zd eYRe R_ V_eZej dY`f]U cVT`X_ZkV cVgV_fV e` UVaZTe eYV ecR_dWVc `W X``Ud `c dVcgZTVd e` Tfde`^Vcd Re eYV R^`f_e hYZTY eYV V_eZej ViaVTed e` T`]]VTe* LYV ;`^aR_j RU`aeVU 8K; 2,2 fdZ_X eYV ^`UZWZVU cVec`daVTeZgV ^VeY`U* JVdf]ed W`c cVa`ceZ_X aVcZ`Ud SVXZ__Z_X RWeVc BR_fRcj -( .,-5 RcV acVdV_eVU f_UVc 8K; 2,2* LYV RU`aeZ`_ `W 8K; 2,2 UZU _`e cVdf]e Z_ R ^ReVcZR] TYR_XV Z_ eYV eZ^Z_X `c aReeVc_ `W cVgV_fV cVT`X_ZeZ`_ R_U cVdf]eVU Z_ _` RU[fde^V_ed e` eYV ;`^aR_jqd `aV_Z_X cVeRZ_VU VRc_Z_Xd Rd `W eYV RU`aeZ`_ UReV* LYV ;`^aR_j VRc_d `aVcReZ_X cVgV_fVd acZ^RcZ]j Wc`^ V]VTecZTZej dR]Vd* =]VTecZTZej dR]Vd V_T`^aRdd V_VcXj R_U TRaRTZej dR]Vd W`c V]VTecZTZej UV]ZgVcVU f_UVc eYV a`hVc afcTYRdV RXcVV^V_ed %oHH8dp& %dVV F`eV 4&( V]VTecZTZej d`]U e` hY`]VdR]V V]VTecZT a`hVc ^Rc\Ved( dR]Vd `W cV_VhRS]V V_VcXj TcVUZed %oJ=;dp&( R_U dVee]V^V_ed `W >LJd %dVV F`eV 2&* LYV eVc^d `W eYV T`_ecRTed hZ]] UVeVc^Z_V hYVeYVc eYV ;`^aR_j RTT`f_ed W`c eYV T`_ecRTed Rd ]VRdVd f_UVc 8K; L`aZT

40,( 7D@QDQ( Rd UVcZgReZgVd f_UVc 8K; L`aZT 4-1( 1DPHT@RHTDQ @LC 5DCFHLF( `c Rd T`_ecRTed hZeY Tfde`^Vcd f_UVc 8K; 2,2 Rd UZdT]`dVU SV]`h* LYV ;`^aR_jqd cVTVZgRS]Vd Rdd`TZReVU hZeY cVgV_fVd VRc_VU Wc`^ T`_ecRTed hZeY Tfde`^Vcd T`_dZde `W SZ]]VU R_U f_SZ]]VU R^`f_ed( hYZTY RcV cVT`cUVU Z_ RTT`f_ed cVTVZgRS]V `_ eYV ;`^aR_jqd T`_d`]ZUReVU SR]R_TV dYVVed* LYV R^`f_e `W RTT`f_ed cVTVZgRS]V `fedeR_UZ_X Wc`^ T`_ecRTed hZeY Tfde`^Vcd Rd `W <VTV^SVc /-( .,-5 R_U <VTV^SVc /-( .,-4 hRd "-3-(.,1 R_U "3,(3,2( cVdaVTeZgV]j* 99/Q W M_UVc eYV HH8d( eYV Tfde`^Vc afcTYRdVd R]] `c R WZiVU R^`f_e `W V]VTecZTZej XV_VcReVU Wc`^ eYV Hc`[VTe R_U Zed cV]ReVU cV_VhRS]V ReecZSfeVd* LYV HH8d bfR]ZWj W`c ecVRe^V_e Rd `aVcReZ_X ]VRdVd* LYV ;`^aR_j YRd UVeVc^Z_VU eYRe eYV dR]V `W V]VTecZTZej R_U eYV cV]ReVU cV_VhRS]V V_VcXj ReecZSfeVd RcV `feafe Wc`^ eYV WRTZ]Zej R_U T`_ec`] W`c VRTY ZeV^ ecR_dWVcd Rd V]VTecZTZej Zd UV]ZgVcVU* 2JDBRPHBHRV <@JDQ m LYV ;`^aR_j dV]]d V]VTecZTZej UZcVTe]j e` R_ V]VTecZT a`hVc ^Rc\Ve( eYc`fXY URj RYVRU `WWVcZ_Xd `c cVR] eZ^V UV]ZgVcZVd* LYV ;`^aR_j$d aVcW`c^R_TV `S]ZXReZ`_d RcV XV_VcR]]j dReZdWZVU `gVc eZ^V Rd eYV Tfde`^Vc dZ^f]eR_V`fd]j cVTVZgVd R_U T`_df^Vd SV_VWZed fa`_ eYV UV]ZgVcj `W V]VTecZTZej R_U cV]ReVU ac`UfTed* JVgV_fV Zd cVT`cUVU SRdVU fa`_ eYV `feafe UV]ZgVcVU Re ^Rc\Ve cReVd* LYV Z_g`ZTVU R^`f_ed cVRd`_RS]j cVacVdV_e eYV gR]fV e` eYV Tfde`^Vc W`c eYV ;`^aR_jqd aVcW`c^R_TV* 8d dfTY( eYV ;`^aR_j YRd V]VTeVU eYV Z_g`ZTZ_X acRTeZTR] ViaVUZV_e f_UVc 8K; 2,2 R_U cVT`X_ZkVd cVgV_fVd Z_ eYV R^`f_e e` hYZTY eYV ;`^aR_j YRd R cZXYe e` Z_g`ZTV* LYVcV RcV _` dZX_ZWZTR_e [fUX^V_ed Z_ R]]`TReZ_X eYV ecR_dRTeZ`_ acZTV dZ_TV eYV aVcW`c^R_TV `S]ZXReZ`_d RcV dReZdWZVU dZ^f]eR_V`fd]j fa`_ eYV XV_VcReZ`_ `W V]VTecZTZej Wc`^ eYV WRTZ]Zej* HRj^V_e eVc^d XV_VcR]]j cVbfZcV eYRe

eYV Tfde`^Vc aRjd W`c eYV a`hVc `c eYV V_VcXj)cV]ReVU T`^^`UZej hZeYZ_ eYV ^`_eY W`]]`hZ_X UV]ZgVcj e` eYV Tfde`^Vc* ;DLDU@AJD 2LDPFV 0PDCHRQ W LYV ;`^aR_j dV]]d deR_U)R]`_V J=;d e` Tfde`^Vcd VZeYVc f_UVc ]`_X)eVc^ RXcVV^V_ed `c da`e dR]Vd* LYV ;`^aR_jqd aVcW`c^R_TV `S]ZXReZ`_( eYV ecR_dWVc `W R J=; Wc`^ R hZ_U WRTZ]Zej e` R Tfde`^Vc( Zd dReZdWZVU Re R a`Z_e Z_ eZ^V* G_V J=; Zd VgZUV_TV eYRe `_V ^VXRhRee)Y`fc %oEOYp& `W V]VTecZTZej hRd XV_VcReVU Wc`^ R cV_VhRS]V V_VcXj d`fcTV* JVgV_fV cV]ReVU e` eYV J=;d Zd cVT`X_ZkVU Re eYV ecR_dWVc `W eYV J=; TVceZWZTReV* HRj^V_e eVc^d XV_VcR]]j cVbfZcV Tfde`^Vcd aRj hZeYZ_ eYV ^`_eY W`]]`hZ_X UV]ZgVcj `W eYV Z_g`ZTV `W eYV J=; ReecZSfeVd SVZ_X SZ]]VU* ) 5 )



 





 





 





 





 





 





 


